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For my wife, Jan; my daughter, Lara; and in memory of my great-uncle, Corporal Richard J. Dickson, 30th Division, USA, killed in action at Bellicourt, France, September 29, 1918




The first casualty when war comes is truth.


—Hiram W. Johnson, US senator, 1917


Propaganda and Censorship, indispensable if rather ghastly, created a popular version of what happened that was sometimes simply a fable agreed on.


—Thomas Johnson, World War I correspondent, 1928


Truth is the daughter of time, not of authority.


—Sir Francis Bacon, English statesman, ca. 1620





PROLOGUE



WORDS TONGUED WITH FIRE


Winters are seldom kind in central Pennsylvania. Around Thanksgiving, snow surges out of the Alleghenies to cover the battlefields of Gettysburg. The landscape, full and lush in other seasons, assumes a pallor befitting the deaths that hallowed the fields surrounding the town and Gettysburg College.


On such a bleak winter’s day in 1993, I entered the college library and first encountered the marginalia that would change my life. Searching for information about my great-uncle who had been killed in World War I, I picked up an old book entitled The American Army in France, 1917–1919, by General James Harbord.1 After blowing dust from the cover and leafing through the volume, I began to notice marginalia inscribed and signed by the book’s late owner, Major Harry D. Parkin. The veteran was a member of the US 79th Division that had fought to bring the war to an end in the Meuse-Argonne Offensive. The major had helped lead the assault to capture the butte of Montfaucon, site of a top-secret German observatory protected by an underground fortress. In several places, Parkin’s marginalia took issue with the book’s conclusions about the attack, and he challenged readers to turn to the back of the volume to learn the truth.


On two empty pages in the rear, Parkin wrote that Robert L. Bullard—one of John J. Pershing’s senior generals—failed to support the attack on Montfaucon, a deliberate act that caused the deaths of many American soldiers. For an instant, I felt like the innocent passerby accosted by Coleridge’s Ancient Mariner. Just like the poem’s compulsive raconteur, Harry Parkin had grabbed my arm and revealed a harrowing tale.


For the next few weeks, I tried to push the story from my mind. As a student of military history, I knew full well the misleading lore of old soldiers, men whose lives had often reached a zenith in battle and who thereafter embroidered their tales with extra measures of meaning. I also understood that the “fog of war”—the profound confusion of combat—often distorts judgment. The psychological murk creates ideal conditions for imputed motives, ungenerous characterizations, ignoble conclusions. Surely, I reasoned, Parkin was mistaken: No American general would refuse to assist his fellow soldiers. I was skeptical of Parkin’s charge.


As interesting as the matter was, I resisted delving into it for several months, but I was finally forced to acknowledge that the story intrigued me. To disprove Parkin’s charge so that I could put aside the issue, I set a demanding test. I would look into Pershing’s memoir to see if the incident was mentioned. The American commander was notoriously reticent to acknowledge problems, and if he discussed the incident, the marginalia might warrant further investigation.


Searching Pershing’s My Experiences in the World War, I found a brief description of the attack on Montfaucon, a fortress known as the Little Gibraltar of the Western Front in honor of the impregnable British citadel guarding the Mediterranean Sea. To my astonishment, Pershing wrote that a “misinterpretation of orders” had resulted in the failure to capture the Mount of the Falcon on the critical first day of battle. For Pershing—who had pledged not to cast blame in his memoir—the gentle reproof was telling. I was hooked.


In the twenty years since my discovery of Parkin’s marginalia, I pursued the tale with all the vigor I could muster. I became acquainted with the dust of archives; haunted old bookstores in search of critical volumes; interviewed sons and grandsons of soldiers killed in France; stood in the trenches of the Hindenburg Line; and even descended into the dank bunkers of Montfaucon where light never shines. Seldom did I encounter a blind alley. On the few occasions when my search seemed stalled, the timely discovery of new evidence propelled my investigation forward.


Eventually these discoveries enabled me to determine the truth about the 79th Division, to solve the mystery of Montfaucon, and to demonstrate that long-forgotten marginalia can prove T. S. Eliot’s proposition that “The communication / Of the dead is tongued with fire beyond the language of the living.”2


—William Walker Staunton, Virginia, 2016
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On the first anniversary of the US declaration of war—April 6, 1918—raw recruits of the 79th Division paraded in front of President Woodrow Wilson and enthusiastic crowds in Baltimore, as pictured in the New York Times. Five short months later, the inexperienced men were ordered to capture the most formidable enemy position in France, the Little Gibraltar of the Western Front.
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PART I


THE STAKES
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The ruins of the French hilltop village of Montfaucon created an impregnable fortress dubbed the Little Gibraltar of the Western Front. Yet the least experienced division in General Pershing’s army would be assigned the demanding task of capturing the butte and its top-secret observatory.










CHAPTER 1


“HORRORS FROM THE ABYSS”
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Among a group of fellow veterans, retired Major Harry Parkin (in uniform) was honored in 1924 by Secretary of War John Weeks with the Distinguished Service Cross for valor atop the French mount that the Americans dubbed “Corn Willy Hill.” Parkin’s battalion was the first to reach the crest of the shell-torn ridge after a vicious fight. He would be haunted by his war experiences for the rest of his life.
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I’m back again from hell


With loathsome thoughts to sell;


Secrets of death to tell;


And horrors from the abyss.


—Captain Siegfried Sassoon, Royal Army, 19171


No one knew the cause of Harry Parkin’s black moods. There was speculation, of course, that the retired major’s memories of the trenches were the source. Friends supposed that the stimulus could be something as innocuous as an automobile backfire, a whiff of pungent Burgundy, a newspaper article about a long-forgotten battle, or a face on a street resembling that of a dead comrade.


Whatever the cause, the result was invariable. Harry would ride the streetcar to downtown Los Angeles, take the Angels Flight tram railway down Bunker Hill, ascend to his office high in the Fay Building, and close the door. The grand view of the metropolitan building boom could be captivating, but it soon became apparent that the land developer did not pass his days sighting plots for new homes. Instead, his mind was plumbing a battlefield abyss. Up welled images of a young soldier clutching his eyeball in a muddy palm, a German shell atomizing an officer into a red mist, and ghostly phosgene gas insinuating its way along a winding trench. And always accompanying the scenes was the staccato clatter of Maxim machine guns echoing from Montfaucon.


Whatever shape war’s horror assumed, it gnawed deep into Harry’s brain, a fierce bite of angst that tightened as years wore on. For a time, Parkin was able to blot out the disturbing visions by retreating to his home study and downing enough Scotch to induce stuporous sleep. But well into the 1930s, as battlefield memories faded to obscurity for most war veterans, Harry’s family noted that he was drinking more heavily. It was clear that the former infantry officer had become a living member of the lost generation.


When two or three nights of alcohol failed to muzzle the “black dog,” Harry would pack a bag, grab a book, and catch the Red Car interurban from Los Angeles down to the seaside town of Balboa. Business success had accompanied the stocky, ruddy-faced Parkin as he pursued the geographic cure from his native Pittsburgh to Southern California. Leaving the sooty Steel City for the land of perpetual sunlight lifted Harry’s mood for a time, especially as his dream of real estate development prospered. Parkin quickly made enough money to purchase a spacious house in an upscale neighborhood just south of the Hollywood Hills, and he and his wife, Alice, also took a modest bungalow in Balboa as a retreat. The house was near the ocean, and waves drowned the murmurs of memory. For a time, Harry appeared to forget about France. But in 1935 when Parkin attended a regimental reunion back East, a heightened sense of dread dogged him back to the coast. Harry’s family reluctantly concluded that he would never again enjoy a good day.2


Once the site of gatherings filled with laughter, the Balboa house became a solitary retreat where Harry wrestled his demons. That’s the way it was on September 14, 1936, as the late summer sun lifted the temperature to a perfect 72 degrees. The weather was ideal, but the major’s mood was grim. It was nearing the eighteenth anniversary of his leap into no-man’s-land, and the anger of Harry’s memories had been stoked by misleading remarks in the memoir of General James G. Harbord, a close friend of American Expeditionary Forces Commander in Chief John J. Pershing. The book, The American Army in France, 1917–1919, was one of a large collection that Parkin had mustered in an attempt to understand his battlefield experience. Harbord’s analysis of the AEF provided an interesting diversion for Parkin until he read a discussion of the plan for the Meuse-Argonne Offensive, an operation the Allies hoped would end the Great War. The retired major had helped lead the massive campaign as a battalion commander of the 79th Division, a unit that suffered heavy casualties in the first days of combat.


Although the 79th was inexperienced in fighting and filled with undertrained draftees, the division had been assigned the most difficult task of the attack, capturing the hilltop fortress of Montfaucon. Widely known as the Little Gibraltar of the Western Front, the limestone butte in northeastern France disguised a secret German observation post that could direct artillery fire on American soldiers anywhere across the twenty-four-mile-wide battlefront. To protect this valuable asset, the enemy had fortified the hill with hundreds of machine-gun nests and artillery emplacements connected by a network of tunnels. To eliminate the hostile observation directing German guns, AEF planners deemed it imperative that Montfaucon be captured on the first day of battle.


As Harry continued reading about preparations for the offensive, his eyes fell on an exceptionally inflammatory passage. General Harbord described in matter-of-fact terms the logic—actually, the illogic—used to assign the nine American assault divisions to their respective sectors of the front.


“The battle order was not based on any particular fitness of a division for the duty expected of it. Each took its turn,” wrote Harbord. “The most distant and perhaps most difficult objective in this attack was given the 79th, which had never been under fire. But such things had to be.”3


The excuse that “such things had to be” infuriated Parkin. The passivity of the statement was anathema to any competent military officer. Every commander knew that on a battlefield, nothing, absolutely nothing, “had to be.” In Officers Training School, each candidate learned that he was responsible for detecting and correcting defects of a plan, anticipating the unexpected, and meeting every circumstance. When midcareer officers attended the US Army Staff College in Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, they were taught to analyze plans and orders thoroughly, identify weaknesses, and develop alternatives for consideration by senior officers. At any level of military command, an excuse as flimsy as “such things had to be” would be greeted with derision; coming from a senior general like Harbord, the remark was inexcusable.


After reading the offending sentence, Parkin could stomach no more. He picked up a pen and dashed off a refutation of Harbord’s excuse in the margin of the page: “This was poor staff work. Veteran 4th Division should have done this job.”4 The 4th Division had arrived in France months before the 79th and earned battle ribbons reversing the desperate German spring offensives of 1918. Its veterans had developed reputations as skilled, resourceful soldiers who could defeat the kaiser’s toughest men, even the feared Stosstruppen—storm troopers. By contrast, the 79th had arrived in France only two months before the Meuse-Argonne Offensive was to begin on September 26, and had completed less than six weeks of the prescribed twelve weeks of combat training. Fifty percent of the 79th’s men had been in the army less than four months; some had never even fired their rifles before landing in France.


Surely the battle-tested 4th, thought Parkin, had been better prepared to lead the dangerous attack on Montfaucon. For some reason, however, the veteran unit was assigned a much easier sector just to the right of the staunchly defended zone faced by the 79th. In an arrangement that complicated cooperation between the two divisions, the 4th was part of another army corps, III Corps, commanded by General Robert L. Bullard. As Parkin read the name of the tough Alabama general in the book, it brought to mind a disturbing story he had heard at the recent regimental reunion.


The story came from an unimpeachable source: Lieutenant Samuel O. Wright, who had been the chaplain of Parkin’s regiment. Nearly two decades after the war, he still had the gaunt look of a soldier who had spent too much time at the front. Tall and thin, Wright was a counterpoint to Parkin, who had gained some postwar pounds. Despite their disparate appearances, the two officers “had seen the days,” as the Irish say: they were brothers grappling with a common battlefield experience.


The compulsion to talk with like-minded comrades drew many veterans to reunions, which were usually laborious affairs. After the final speeches touting sacrifice and glory, after endless toasts to declining leaders and dead heroes, after men with wives had drifted off to bed, serious comrades like Parkin and Wright huddled in small groups to exhume painful memories—in hopes of burying them forever. For the retired major, the most disturbing was the bloody assault on Montfaucon. Everything seemed to go wrong for the 79th Division, which had come up short. Despite years of searching, Parkin had discovered no reasonable explanation for his division’s failure to capture the butte and its key observatory on the first day of battle. He rejected the notion that the fault lay in his soldiers’ lack of aggressiveness, nor could he accept the conclusion of some experts that the officers lacked proper leadership skills. Above all, he grieved the loss of hundreds of his men.


Parkin’s guilt must have been palpable to the veteran minister, who offered solace in the form of a story. Wright had stayed in the army after the Armistice, and he had met a colonel who had served in the 4th Division during the attack on Little Gibraltar. The colonel told the chaplain that on the first day of battle, his unit surged well beyond Montfaucon, but he grew concerned about the 79th when he heard the sound of heavy fighting in front of the butte. Because the 4th Division had suffered few casualties advancing in its easy sector, the officer proposed assisting the 79th by sending some of his troops to take Montfaucon from the rear. To do so, however, the colonel was required to secure the permission of his corps commander, General Robert L. Bullard. Bullard angrily replied that he was not going to help General George H. Cameron, the 79th’s corps commander, “win any battle laurels.”5 Because of the rivalry between two generals, Wright concluded, the 4th Division charged ahead, leaving soldiers of the 79th to be slaughtered in an unsupported attack against Montfaucon.


Parkin was enraged by the betrayal at the heart of the chaplain’s tale. After some reflection, however, he came to understand that the story offered a certain degree of comfort—if not absolution. It explained the difficulty the 79th had encountered and reassured him that there had been factors at play beyond his control. Above all, the story exposed a villain. From his reading, Parkin knew that Bullard was well suited to the role. The stern West Pointer had established a reputation as a tough taskmaster, who drove his troops without regard for comfort or safety. As a result of his hard charging, Bullard’s corps had advanced farther than any other American unit on the first day of the Meuse-Argonne Offensive, a standard of military success trumpeted by front pages across America. Subsequently, Pershing promoted Bullard to lead the Second US Army, a command carrying the three stars of a lieutenant general. He was one of only two officers to earn that rank during the war, and returned home in triumph. The commander of Parkin’s V Corps, General Cameron, was demoted and shipped back to the States on a slow boat to disgrace.


On Parkin’s train trip home from the reunion, he concluded that Wright’s narrative had the ring of truth. Harry was convinced of the chaplain’s honesty, and the anonymous colonel from the 4th Division who related the story to Wright had no incentive to lie. In fact, just the opposite. Most officers wanted to protect the reputations of the units in which they had served, but the colonel’s story seemed to expose the 4th’s culpability. As one who had studied law at Harvard, Parkin realized that eighteen years after the event, it would be difficult to prove Bullard’s treachery. But he burned to do so.


At home in Los Angeles, the retired major had only one volume in his extensive library that mentioned the incident Wright described. It was the wartime memoir of Pershing, who after the Armistice had grown reticent to criticize any American comrade-in-arms. But in discussing the initial day of the Meuse-Argonne Offensive, the commanding general noted that the 4th Division had moved quickly forward, and “its left [flank] was more than a mile beyond Montfaucon, but through some misinterpretation of the orders by the III Corps [Bullard’s command] the opportunity to capture Montfaucon that day was lost.”6


The former AEF commander softened this rare rebuke by omitting the name of the officer who had “misinterpreted” the orders. But Pershing’s language conveyed the clear implication that the 4th Division had been ordered to assist the capture of Little Gibraltar. This tantalizing hint spurred Harry to pursue the matter, but AEF records were still classified. As a retired officer, Parkin had no recourse, and once again, he tried to push the haunting event from his mind. His family noted, however, that when Bullard’s name came up in conversation, there was a palpable but silent anger emanating from Harry. The family learned to change the topic quickly to restore equanimity to dinner-table discussions.7


As Harry read Harbord’s book on that late summer day in Balboa, however, his anger flashed anew. After dashing off marginalia to refute the author’s comments on planning, Parkin decided that he had waited long enough. He felt compelled to record his views in full. Near a section describing the plan of attack, he scribbled, “Jealousy between corps commanders prevented this plan from being carried out. See Page 632 of this book for explanation.”8


Harry turned to blank pages at the end of the volume, where he inscribed an affidavit—more precisely, an indictment. [See pages 15 to 17.] Using legal standards he had learned at Harvard University, the major related Chaplain Wright’s story in detail, complete with a sketch illustrating where the 79th and 4th Divisions were during the battle and how the veteran unit was well positioned to help capture the butte from the rear. In keeping with forensic style, most of Parkin’s narrative is direct and dispassionate. But toward the end of the two-page note, his rage flares up: “Bullard received all the high military decorations of America, France, England and Belgium. What he deserved was a long term in military prison for deliberately murdering hundreds of American soldiers.”9 Harry then signed, dated, and recorded the city in which his affidavit was composed, exactly as his legal training dictated.


Although Chaplain Wright had intended his story to be a palliative, it became the toxic touchstone of Parkin’s life. Harry recognized that there was scant evidence to prove the accusation of the colonel who had related the incident to Chaplain Wright. And aside from the oblique passage in Pershing’s memoir, the tale was based entirely on hearsay inadmissible in any court. But that did not keep the major from turning over the facts obsessively, again and again. As alcohol became Harry’s sole companion, he devoted the remaining years of his life to a fruitless quest to solve the mystery of Montfaucon.
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Sequestered in his study, Harry Parkin would have been astounded to learn that less than a mile away in Los Angeles, another retired army officer was wrestling with the same dark issue. Unlike Parkin, Major General Ewing E. Booth thought he knew who had caused the debacle at Little Gibraltar. And he had spent much of the last decade and a half assembling evidence to prove that the incident involved deliberate disobedience to orders, as well as a refusal to help American soldiers in danger on the battlefield.


Although the retired general had enjoyed an impressive military career, his slight build and quiet manner did not automatically confer on him what the army calls “command presence”: the charismatic attributes of a confident and assertive leader. During the war, most soldiers towered over Booth’s slim frame and stooped shoulders, but the wiry, plainspoken officer had a mental toughness that attracted the attention of superiors and inspired the respect of subordinates. As an unassuming brigade commander in the 4th Division, Booth won numerous citations, a full complement of decorations, and the bright stars of a brigadier general. He was a man who pursued each objective with dogged determination, never, however, to the detriment of his men.


Booth’s affinity for common soldiers had been acquired the hard way. As a young man from a poor family, he lacked the resources to attend college and the political connections for appointment to West Point. Seeking another course of advancement, he enlisted as a private in the Colorado National Guard in 1893; outstanding performance earned him a second lieutenant’s commission just three years later.10 Months of sleeping on the ground gave Booth the indelible perspective of an enlisted man, along with valuable insights that served him well in the Spanish-American War, Mexican border fighting, and World War I. Of all Pershing’s commanders, he most merited the sobriquet of “a soldier’s general.”


Like many other officers, Booth reassumed his lower permanent rank after the Armistice. As a colonel, he was assigned to the prestigious Staff College. Helping teach the next generation of senior army officers was an enjoyable task, and Booth began to put the war behind him. But one day in the fall of 1920, the colonel got wind of a disturbing statement made by General Hugh Drum, a widely respected officer who headed the college. Discussing the Meuse-Argonne Offensive, the general had declared that “had the Third Corps [Bullard’s command] assisted the Fifth Corps [Cameron’s command] by turning Montfaucon the results of the battle would have been a much more glorious victory for the American Army.”11 That frank judgment sent reverberations through an already shaky army establishment. In the early 1920s, cutting military budgets was capital sport on Capitol Hill, as congressmen clamored to eliminate unpopular war taxes and return the country to “normalcy.” As Pershing battled Congress for every dollar, negative publicity about battlefield disputes was the last thing the army chief of staff wanted.


So Pershing quietly quashed the nascent Montfaucon controversy, just as he had other unsettling issues. The matter quickly was swept under the army’s ample carpet to protect the pride of participants and the budget of the service. Worried parties were assured that no one’s reputation would be tarnished.12 Booth, however, was wise enough to realize that such a superficial resolution would not end the affair. Official histories of the war were then being written, and self-serving memoirs were in preparation; both were likely to enflame the controversy. The farsighted colonel understood that the honor of the 4th and the 79th Divisions, their respective commanders, and their soldiers lay entangled around the rocky butte in northeastern France.


Among the numerous ambiguities of World War I, the attack on Montfaucon has received scant attention, due to Pershing’s success in dampening internal debate about the matter during the 1920s. The stakes to military reputations were high, because the failure to capture the enemy observation post had almost doomed the Meuse-Argonne Offensive. The one-day delay gave the Germans just enough time to rush reinforcements to the area, fight the offensive to a standstill, and preclude any possibility of a breakthrough that could have ended the war. During the next month, more than seventy-five thousand US casualties were required to jump-start the stalled campaign, losses that helped make the Meuse-Argonne Offensive the bloodiest battle in US Army history.13 That sad record endures to this day.


Booth knew that most of the blame for the debacle had fallen on the 79th Division and George Cameron’s V Corps, but from his personal experience on the battlefield, he was certain that a substantial portion of the responsibility belonged elsewhere. What the colonel knew and what he could prove, however, were entirely different things. But blame was seeping toward the 4th Division. To shield the reputation of his old unit—which he believed spotless—Booth launched a determined effort to collect evidence about the events surrounding the failed assault on Little Gibraltar. During the 1920s and well into the 1930s, he wrote letters to senior officers who had served with him in France, asking for their recollections about the planning and execution of the attack. While Parkin was consumed by a burning anger about Montfaucon and Bullard, Booth pursued a more reasoned, step-by-step approach. The objective of both men, however, was the same.


Although Booth had powerful friends, he had much to lose by launching his informal investigation. His probing letters and pointed questions carried considerable risk, because they were bound to provoke the ire of those who might be discredited were the truth disclosed. The greatly reduced peacetime army was a close-knit community, and word of Booth’s discomfiting inquiries spread quickly.


The colonel’s exposure increased substantially when several generals sent discreet signals that he could better spend his time documenting AEF successes. Many of the same officers would sit on promotion boards that would determine the trajectory of Booth’s postwar military career; like every other colonel who had once held flag rank, he longed to recapture the stars that graced his shoulders in France.


Every night after completing his official duties, Booth sat at his desk typing letters, following new leads, and assembling a thick file of statements that were increasingly incriminating. For years, he pursued the task with such dedication that many fellow officers began to worry that he was obsessed. To one friend who urged him to drop the matter, Booth replied forcefully, “I am going to push this thing to a solution now while we are all alive and remember the instances. I don’t want our grandchildren to cuss us out for being responsible for the failure of the 3rd and 5th Corps to reach the army objective, Sept. 26th, as we cuss out our ancestors for apparently similar features in the Civil War.”14 As the retired major general sat in his Los Angeles home during the dark year of 1936, he became increasingly confident that the end of his quest for the truth was in sight. A clear picture of the events of September 26, 1918, was emerging. Booth believed he would soon be able to demonstrate what and—more importantly—who was responsible for the failure to capture Little Gibraltar. As Germany rushed to rearm, and Europe drifted toward the abyss of a new war, the retired officer pondered the documents he had collected to solve a mystery from a different war, indeed, from a different world.
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The Affidavit


Chaplain Wright of my regiment, the 316th of the 79th Division, which captured Montfaucon, that is the 79th Division did, remained in the regular army after the war. He told me, after the war, that he had served with the colonel, also after the war, who had commanded the left regiment of the 4th Division during the Argonne battle. This regiment was in touch with the right regiment of the 79th Division (ours) all during our bloody frontal attack on the high and stoutly defended town of Montfaucon. It was the 313th Infantry which captured this town, the 316th, my regiment, was in close support.


This colonel told Chaplain Wright that his regiment got beyond Montfaucon on the first day of the battle, and realized that we were having a very hard time in front of Montfaucon, and were losing heavily. He said he could easily have sent a battalion to attack the town in the rear, and have helped us take it, if the Germans had not vacated it upon their approach, as they most certainly would have done. But the colonel dared not do this without authority as he would be going out of the sector of his division, the 4th. The matter was referred back to brigade headquarters and to division headquarters, and finally to corps headquarters, where General Bullard said that he would not help General Cameron, our corps commander, win any battle laurels, so on account of this nasty jealousy between high officers, the help was not sent to us, and the 4th Division went ahead with its much easier advance, and left us to be slaughtered by hundreds in a frontal attack against the machine guns in Montfaucon.


Bullard received all the high military decorations of America, France, England and Belgium. What he deserved was a long term in military prison for deliberately murdering hundreds of American soldiers.


H. D. Parkin (signed)


Ex Major, 316th Infantry, 79th Division


Balboa, Calif. 9/14/36





CHAPTER 2



LITTLE GIBRALTAR OF THE WESTERN FRONT
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Two miles behind Montfaucon, Crown Prince Wilhelm of Germany addressed the troops who assaulted Verdun in 1916. Willie, as the prince was called, constructed a high-tech observatory on the butte so that he could direct the horrific battle.
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The net result of more than six months of continuous attacks was in the main a failure, but a failure relieved by countless deeds of heroism and great achievements. The blood of brave men had flowed in rivers.


—Crown Prince Wilhelm of Germany1


Years after World War I, German crown prince Wilhelm still recalled vividly his first sight of Montfaucon. It came on September 3, 1914, little more than two months after the assassination of Austrian archduke Franz Ferdinand in the Bosnian capital of Sarajevo, and just two days after Germany had opened hostilities by invading Belgium and France. Leading ten divisions composing the German Fifth Army, Wilhelm crashed through the French border north of Metz and swept west in an attempt to encircle the vital fortress town of Verdun.


As the thirty-two-year-old general topped a ridge on the west side of the Meuse River, he spied “the proud conical peak” of Montfaucon, defended by troops from France’s African colonies.2 Wilhelm immediately perceived the military significance of the towering butte. Perched on a humpback ridge among the rolling hills and deep ravines of northern France, Montfaucon was a vantage point from which the Germans could observe the entire area around Verdun. The crag would give the invaders a strategic advantage in their campaign to surround and capture the fortifications of the city that formed the critical hinge of what would soon be called the Western Front.


Wilhelm quickly ordered his renowned Metz Corps into action, and its soldiers stormed the steep limestone bluff protecting the butte’s eastern flank. Inspired by the belief that the peak was impregnable, the colonial troops fought back strongly. But Germans in spiked helmets pushed the French troops off the height and into the ravines, fields, and woods that lay beyond. Elated by the victory, the crown prince rejected his staff’s warnings and spurred his horse toward the mount. He recalled later: “I drove past the transport columns and the battery positions and, amid general cheers and the waving of helmets, went right up to the fighting troops. There, amid all the din of battle and the hurtling enemy shells, I had that glorious feeling of victory which only the fighting line experiences, and from an ideal central position was able to observe the movements of my whole army.”3 Wilhelm galloped on across the flat top of the butte past a church with a distinctive steeple, the only remnant of a medieval monastery that had once graced the promontory until it was destroyed by anticlerical mobs during the French Revolution. Many of the village houses were on fire from the victor’s artillery. Wafting from an open window of one wrecked home came the incongruous sound of a popular song played on a piano by a German soldier. “Puppchen, du bist mein Augenstern!” (“Darling, you are the apple of my eye!”) went the lyrics that brought a smile to the face of Kaiser Wilhelm II’s oldest son, rumored to have a keen eye for the ladies.4 Imperially thin and endowed with an exceptional shock of bright blond hair, the prince was the very picture of the Germanic general, with one major exception: his chin was tragically weak, an unfortunate feature accentuated by a large, drooping mustache. But the younger Wilhelm carried off his leading role by comporting himself in accordance with the army’s strict code of discipline and, more importantly, by rigorously following the advice of a seasoned chief of staff appointed by Berlin, General Schmidt von Knobelsdorf.5


When the prince reached the far side of the hill, he dismounted to view the sweeping panorama. Standing in an apple orchard covering the gentle slope, he could easily see west to the town of Varennes, where his troops were driving the French army beyond the Aire River. Farther through the smoke of battle, he glimpsed the dark Argonne Forest, where his enemies paused to catch their breath before resuming a precipitous retreat toward Reims. To the south, beyond the Bois de Montfaucon and the villages of Malancourt and Haucourt, Wilhelm spied a low spine of ridges broken by ravines filled with trees and brush. A staff officer pointed out the highest ridge and cited its ominous name: Le Mort Homme (Dead Man). At the east end of this ridgeline lay several of the forts protecting Verdun. Just beyond, the twin belfries of the city cathedral pierced the smoke of battle lying thick in the Meuse River Valley. The prince had little time to enjoy the sight, as he hurried from the butte to catch up with his surging troops. It was clear, however, that the shining moment of victory had made Montfaucon the apple of Wilhelm’s eye.


Over the next week, the Germans drove the French lines more than twenty miles south in hopes of rendezvousing with the other wing of the prince’s army closing in from east of the Meuse. Together they nearly encircled and isolated Verdun’s fortifications. Had they succeeded, Wilhelm would have cut off the city’s supplies and reinforcements, leaving France’s eastern defenses powerless to stem the German army’s westward flow toward the nation’s capital.


Simultaneously, a larger mass of German troops had slashed through neutral Luxembourg and Belgium and was driving to take Paris in accordance with a plan credited to Count Alfred von Schlieffen, late chief of the German General Staff. Although recent scholarship has questioned the origin of the strategy, military historian John Keegan called the plan “the most important document of the last hundred years.”6 Whatever the Schlieffen Plan’s genesis, its twin concepts guided Germany in two world wars: first, moving through neutral countries to avoid French fortifications, the Germans would defeat France immediately; second, the Germans would then send troops east by rail to attack Russia, which was incapable of mobilizing as quickly as France. Schlieffen envisioned taking Paris in a few weeks—much as Prussia had captured the French capital in the War of 1870, a conflict that led to the loss of the Gallic provinces of Alsace and Lorraine and to the emergence of Germany as a great power.


The kaiser’s generals neglected Schlieffen’s “deathbed” advice, most likely apocryphal, to “strengthen the right wing” of the encirclement. As a result, the Germans swung too far east to envelop Paris.7 In addition, long logistical lines began to break down, the kaiser’s troops were wearied by days of ceaseless fighting, and the French regained their composure under the firm leadership of General Joseph Joffre. Momentum shifted. Inspired by victory at Mondemont, the French drove back the hated Boche—a contemptuous nickname blending the French words for “German blockhead” with a derisive sneer about the enemy’s favorite vegetable, cabbage. The German retreat exposed the western flank of Wilhelm’s Fifth Army to French attack, and the crown prince was ordered to withdraw northward. Wilhelm was furious, because he was ceding valuable territory that his troops had just captured. Yet orders were orders, and in the German army, even the kaiser’s son was bound to obey.


As Wilhelm and his staff began to search for a strong line of defense that could halt the resurgent French, some officers proposed that the Fifth Army occupy the low line of ridges dominated by Le Mort Homme. Remembering the defensive heights of Montfaucon, however, the prince chose to anchor his main line on the craggy butte.8 Wilhelm’s decision insured that in the years ahead the promontory would become the centerpiece of the German defensive position and remain closely associated with the crown prince’s disastrous legacy.


In 1915 Montfaucon presided over a series of violent but limited actions that surged north toward the German-held heights, and then south toward the line of low ridges held by the French. Then, each side began to trade the hope of regaining mobility for the safety afforded by hastily constructed trenches. At first, the fortifications were merely crude ditches in which infantrymen crouched to avoid rifle fire. Afterward the troops constructed simple dugouts covered by tree trunks and earth to protect against flying shrapnel. As the Western Front solidified into a 450-mile scar meandering across France, both sides deployed combat engineers to build bunkers strong enough to resist all but the largest artillery shells. Some of these subterranean structures, which the Germans called stollen, were reinforced with concrete and steel and could shelter up to a thousand soldiers, who periodically charged upstairs to man the trenches or assault the enemy.


Because the tactics of offensive warfare had not kept pace with the spectacular development of defensive weapons, the invariable result of frontal assaults on fixed emplacements was disaster for the attackers. Machine guns that fired 500 rounds per minute, minenwerfers that heaved explosive canisters weighing up to 840 pounds, and artillery shells with their deadly shrapnel tore the attackers to bits or suffocated them with poison gas. As the battles surged forward and backward across the valley between Montfaucon and Le Mort Homme, both sides suffered heavy losses. Soon, the combatants settled into established lines, and the war became a deadly stalemate, with Western Front manpower “wastage rates” amounting to an average of 2,250 dead and 5,000 wounded per day, even during periods of relative quiet.9 The Germans, of course, held a natural advantage, because they were firmly entrenched on French soil, with some 20 percent of their enemy’s landmass occupied. Strategically, the French and their British allies would be forced to emerge from their trenches and assume the dangerous attackers’ role just to regain the status quo ante. Secure in their superb fortifications, the Germans awaited the assaults when they could exact staggering losses on attackers.


As the Meuse-Argonne sector settled into an uneasy stalemate, Montfaucon became increasingly well known. In 1915, new German units replaced those that had previously manned the trenches, and each group insisted on securing evidence that it had served on the commanding hill famously captured by the crown prince. Professional photographers from German towns just across the border made a great living by snapping shots of grinning soldiers amid the ruins. In mobile labs, the photographers printed postcards that were inscribed by troops and sent to relatives in cities and villages across the fatherland. Many German homes shared in Wilhelm’s victory by posting on their mantels images of their sons and brothers celebrating in Montfaucon’s ruins.


On the butte, the Germans took steps to insure the comfort as well as the safety of their troops. A noncommissioned officers’ club in a repaired structure on the back slope was regularly supplied with large barrels of beer, and a swine slaughterhouse operated around the clock to provide bratwurst.10 Officers enjoyed a luxurious club in nearby Nantillois, where a manicured lawn with comfortable chairs was available for relaxing with fine French champagne. When fall gave way to winter and the holidays arrived, the Germans decorated their underground quarters with greenery and held a traditional Christmas Eve ceremony in the church, which to that point had sustained little damage. The sentimental notes of “Stille Nacht” soared through the building, as high-ranking officers arrayed themselves around the decorated altar to welcome the Prince of Peace.11


In wartime, a Christmas lull is often followed by a New Year’s frenzy. And 1916 was destined to be a year full of frenzy. The German high command had become increasingly concerned about the toxic effects of stalemate. The war against the Russians was dragging on with no apparent end, and in the Atlantic, German sinkings of merchant ships were beginning to rouse the sleeping American giant. In Berlin, there were fears that the Yanks might shake off their lethargy and enter the war on the Allied side. More worrisome was the impact that the static situation was having on once-aggressive German troops. Trench warfare, complained the impatient crown prince, “had a soporific effect upon the men. That was, indeed, the most serious danger of the whole war of position, that it so easily tended to encourage the placing of one of the strongest sides of human nature, the instinct for self-protection, before duty.”12


Wilhelm’s fears about low troop morale and its effect on the military cohesion of Germany’s principalities were confirmed by a flurry of disturbing incidents that occurred as the kaiser’s birthday approached in January 1916. Across one snowy trench line, for instance, gray-clad troops yelled to their enemy, “We are Saxons, and after the twenty-ninth, you can have our trenches and the f—— Kaiser too!”13


Miles behind the front lines, however, the Germanic warrior ethos burned with undiminished intensity. In a warm chateau near Spa, Belgium, General Erich von Falkenhayn, chief of the Imperial General Staff, was planning a major offensive designed to capture Verdun and break through the surrounding fortifications. In the area, France had invested nothing less than its vast national ego, and if it were to fall, morale would sink precipitously. More importantly, the offensive was aimed directly at the hinge of the Western Front, where the lines shifted from a predominantly east-west direction to a north-south orientation. If the Germans could break this hinge, they would cleave France in two. To underscore this decisive purpose, the army chief of staff named his scheme Wirkung Gericht, meaning “a tribunal, or judgment, or . . . an execution place,” like Golgotha, the place where Christ was put to death.


The huge offensive required extensive preparation. The German General Staff allocated ten divisions to reinforce Wilhelm’s Fifth Army, along with more than 1,200 artillery pieces and 2.5 million shells to launch the first phase of the battle. To penetrate the thick walls of French forts, the Germans dispatched seventeen howitzers 380mm (fourteen inches) in diameter and fourteen mortars of the larger 420mm (sixteen-inch) size.14 Because these guns weighed as much as 315,000 pounds, ten railcars and hundreds of men were needed to transport each one and to build concrete platforms to which their steel carriages were bolted.15 The mortars were well worth the trouble, because they could propel a 1,826-pound armored shell eight miles.16 Because the famed German siege artillery was destined to play a premier role in the offensive, Montfaucon would soon rebound into military prominence.


During lulls in fighting, the butte had become the target of bored French artillerists, who sometimes fired a salvo or two at the German-occupied hill towering above them. The desultory barrages slowly took their toll on the remaining houses, and the church also received its share of hits, so that postcards mailed home by Germans document the building’s slow-motion destruction.17


As damaging as some of the shots were, they failed to diminish the butte’s military usefulness. Montfaucon stood well above the surrounding countryside, providing splendid views of Verdun in the east, Le Mort Homme to the south, and the Argonne Forest in the west. As the Germans prepared for the apocalyptic battle, Wilhelm was determined to take full advantage of the view. Knowing that his massive artillery pieces would be more effective against French targets if they were precisely aimed, the crown prince secretly ordered the preparation of an advanced observation post on the mount of the falcon.


On the east side of the butte, about a hundred yards north of the church, stood a chateau, once the home of a wealthy family. It was a two-story structure with a tall attic and deep basement. Although the windows and doors had been blown out, and portions of the roof were destroyed, it took German engineers little time to convert the former home into a command observatory. Using the surrounding walls for camouflage and protection, the kaiser’s troops constructed a thirty-five-foot-tall tower on bedrock in the basement, extending through the first and second floors, and terminating about six feet into the twelve-foot attic. The tower was constructed of steel-reinforced concrete walls three feet thick, with a four-foot slab of concrete covering the top.18 In the tower’s hollow middle, the engineers assembled a periscope topped by the most powerful telescope Zeiss opticians could devise. When the device was complete, it penetrated an opening in the protective slab in the attic and on through the highest part of the roof, where it was disguised by two lightning rods.


Access to the telescopic periscope was afforded by eyepieces located on each level of the house. In the attic, the Germans developed a chart room with a detailed map precisely oriented to compass points on the 360-degree sweep of the periscope. In addition to providing stations for observers on the first and second floors, the Germans configured the device so that in the midst of strong artillery barrages, observers could continue their work from the basement.


To enhance the accuracy of the observatory’s targeting data, the Germans constructed a secondary observation post in a ruined pier of the church. By comparing the relative headings from the two sites and factoring in the distance between, German artillery experts could fix their targets precisely. The vital data was relayed to batteries by field telephone and telegraph, or if the lines were broken by shell fire, by complex signal lights on the backside of the butte. Located in deep valleys east of the Meuse River and in the depths of the northern Argonne Forest, German long-range artillery could quickly destroy French targets by precise gunnery adjusted in concert with supplementary information relayed from forward observers near the front lines. Field artillery batteries closer to the front also received sighting information from the butte.


The crown prince’s observatory was one of Germany’s most closely held secrets. Before the dominance of airpower, Montfaucon’s telescopic periscope was the equivalent of today’s spy satellites, providing timely, precise information that could help destroy any target within a twenty-mile radius. Because of the position’s value, the crown prince was determined to provide his technological masterpiece all the protection he could muster. To construct new fortifications on and around the butte, the Germans employed thousands of Russian prisoners of war shipped from the Eastern Front.


Around the margins of Montfaucon’s flat top, the prisoners built fifteen additional observation posts to warn of imminent threats and to provide supplementary data for sighting artillery. Two-story stone-and-concrete structures, these posts were often disguised in the ruins of homes or barns. Machine-gun nests were similarly camouflaged with debris from blasted buildings, and trenches surrounded the front and sides of the hill, from top to bottom.


The bulk of construction, however, took place out of sight, beneath the butte’s cratered surface. In the rock, German mining engineers laid out a labyrinth of tunnels and facilities. Included were several large stollen that housed and fed hundreds of troops. Tunnels led from the larger galleries to observation posts, machine-gun nests, and even artillery emplacements on the back slope, so that the soldiers would not be exposed to shelling as they moved to battle stations. Lighting for the entire complex was provided by a large gasoline engine driving a dynamo, buried at the rear of the hill. To make things homey, the garrison papered gallery walls, organized musical programs, constructed a café with an ample wine list, and assembled a large library of silent films for use in an underground theater.19


The Germans were not content, however, to fortify just the hill and its slopes. In addition to strengthening the forward trenches running along the north side of Forges Brook three miles south of the butte, they constructed a strong intermediate line of fortifications along the crest of a low ridge that ran between the front lines and the mount. To bolster the defense-in-depth strategy, German engineers incorporated two strong field fortifications. On the ridge north of the ruined village of Malancourt, they constructed the Oeuvre du Demon, or “Work of the Demon.” Respectfully named by French troops who had the misfortune to attack it, the work was an interconnected complex of earthen fortifications, a concrete blockhouse, and large stollen with multiple machine guns shielded from direct fire. Together the weapons could deliver a steel deluge on anyone approaching through the valley running northward from Malancourt.


Farther west, the Redoute du Golfe provided similar protection in a large clearing, or golfe, between the Bois de Montfaucon and the Bois de Cuisy. Designed to be self-contained, the redoubt was surrounded by dense barbed wire and featured broad fields of fire that could exact an awful price on attackers. The redoubt and the Work of the Demon, as well as the observatory, tunnels, and additional defenses, converted the butte into an underground fortress capable of repelling any conceivable attack. At this point, the French dubbed the butte impregnable, and the underground fortress earned its title, Little Gibraltar of the Western Front, just in time to participate in the largest battle of world history.


On the clear morning of February 21, 1916, a massive German barrage directed by the Montfaucon observatory announced the arrival of the day of judgment for Verdun. The brick-and-concrete walls of Fort Douaumont and its sisters were blasted repeatedly by direct hits from the nearly one-ton shells of Germany’s largest mortars. Shortly thereafter, the fort’s stunned and disoriented garrison surrendered to a single German sergeant who crawled through a shell hole and bluffed the French soldiers into believing that he was the first of a much larger force.20 The fort had been designed to hold out for months; its fall only four days after the start of the battle shattered the confidence of Verdun’s defenders.


There was panic in the city, as the French mined the critical bridges across the Meuse in preparation for abandoning the river’s east bank. As the Montfaucon-sighted artillery blasted away, however, the French appointed hard-fighting General Henri Philippe Pétain, who issued the famous order: “They shall not pass!” Through force of will, the crusty Pétain calmed his troops, who clung to steep ridges and huddled in bunkers north and east of Verdun. Although the Germans initially pushed within four miles of the city center, the French dug in their heels and conceded no more ground. To regain momentum, Wilhelm redoubled his artillery barrages, infantry attacks, and poison gas, and introduced a new weapon: panic-inducing flamethrowers. All these elements combined to create what the crown prince called the “mill on the Meuse [that] ground to powder the hearts as well as the bodies of the troops.”21


No amount of Sturm und Drang could disguise the fact that the Germans were losing almost as many men as the French, and the attackers’ morale began to wane. As spring neared, Falkenhayn and Wilhelm met to review alternatives, and their eyes turned toward the rolling hills west of the Meuse River. Together they decided to attack the line of French-held ridges south of Montfaucon in hopes of installing artillery in the hills to cut the vital flow of enemy supplies along the French railroad from Reims and on the La Voie Sacrée road from Bar-le-Duc. In early March, Le Mort Homme and its sister ridge, Côte 304 (named for its height in meters), became the targets of particularly violent German artillery bombardments called trommelfeuer (drumfire), for the unbroken roar of shells that sounded like the rolling of massed drums. As barrages extended for weeks, French soldiers were unable to leave their bunkers to eat, wash, or shave; their long hair and beards earned the honorific poilu (shaggy ones), a title eventually conferred on all French troops who joined the ranks of troglodytes.


One soldier on the receiving end of a barrage on Côte 304 during this period later described the experience:


The pounding was continuous and terrifying. We had never experienced its like during the whole campaign. The earth around us quaked, and we were lifted and tossed about. Shells of all calibres [sic] kept raining on our sector. The trench no longer existed; it had been filled up with earth. We were crouching in shell-holes, where the mud thrown up by each new explosion covered us more and more. The air was unbreathable. Our blinded, wounded, crawling and shouting soldiers kept falling on top of us and died while splashing us with their blood. It really was a living hell.22


A less subjective measure of the ferocity of these bombardments was provided by the fact that barrages of German and French batteries progressively reduced the height of Côte 304 by three meters during the offensive. Following the war, the French constructed a monument exactly three meters tall to restore the ridge to its original elevation and to memorialize troops lost defending the high point. The crests of Le Mort Homme and Côte 304 fell to the enemy, but French troops always regained the lost ground.


In hopes of forcing the Germans to shift troops away from the besieged city and to regain the initiative on the Western Front, the Allied high command hurried preparations for a massive attack by late spring 1916. The site was the Somme River in northwest France, where thirteen British divisions supported by five French divisions assembled to attack strong German positions. Unfortunately, the number of divisions was reduced considerably by the necessity of sending French troops to reinforce Verdun. Despite the reductions, British field marshal Sir Douglas Haig remained optimistic that his Somme Offensive could break through enemy lines, free British cavalry to dash northward behind the Germans, and shift the fortunes of war in the Allies’ favor.23


The British knew they were facing a skilled enemy with stout defenses, but “Haig had been seduced by the potential of massed artillery as demonstrated at least in part by the early German operations at Verdun.”24 Enamored by the promise of the big guns, the British field marshal assembled 1,537 artillery pieces that over five days fired more than one million shells at the enemy.25 Confident that the barrage had destroyed the five belts of German barbed wire and pierced infantry bunkers carved deep into solid chalk, Allied troops went over the top at 7:30 a.m. on July 1, 1916, and marched forward in neat waves to meet the enemy.26 The assault battalions were surprised to discover that much of the barbed wire was still intact and that the kaiser’s troops had emerged from undamaged bunkers in time to mount and fire their Maxim machine guns. Historian Martin Middlebrook calculated that by the end of the first day of fighting, the British had suffered 57,470 casualties, including 19,240 dead.27 For these sacrifices, the British captured only three small villages and advanced one mile at the farthest point.28


On July 11, less than two weeks after the disastrous British attack on the Somme, German troops made a final attempt to capture Verdun; more than 10,000 men were sacrificed in a vain effort to capture Fort Souville and blast a path to the city center. Shortly thereafter, the battle subsided, each side paralyzed by maximum efforts. Some twenty million artillery shells had been fired into the cauldron, and they had done their work well.29 The Germans could point to 377,231 French casualties (including 162,308 dead or missing) to demonstrate the effectiveness of Falkenhayn’s offensive. Unstated, however, was the fact that more than 337,000 German casualties (including approximately 100,000 dead or missing) were required to achieve the Pyrrhic victory.30 On the Somme, the toll was even higher: The Allies suffered 622,231 casualties, while estimates of German casualties range from a low of 400,000 to a high of 680,000.31


Mourning darkened homes throughout France, Britain, and Germany. Among the high command, Pétain won national acclaim, while Haig plodded methodically on to perfect the bloody tactics that would eventually wear down the enemy. On the German side, little notice was paid to the quick disappearance of the generals who had planned and pressed the offensive to “bleed France white.” Falkenhayn, replaced as army chief of staff by the rising Paul von Hindenburg, was sent to a remote command on the Eastern Front. Although the general’s reputation was buffered by the distance from Verdun, he failed to escape the calumny associated with the disaster.


Falkenhayn’s comrade-in-arms, the crown prince, also disappeared from the scene before surfacing some time later in a less demanding command. By that time, however, grieving German parents had awarded him the sobriquet that he would carry until his death in 1951: the Butcher of Verdun.32 The pain caused by that harsh nickname might have influenced Wilhelm to record in his memoir the numerous occasions on which he had urged Falkenhayn to abandon the attack on Verdun.33 However, the crown prince’s rapturous descriptions of the capture of Le Mort Homme and the village of Haucourt undercut his professed concern about the lives of his troops.


As fall rains stilled major offensive actions for 1916, the Western Front was mired in a stalemate mirroring the situation that prevailed twelve months earlier. Despite the loss of two million men in a single year, trench lines were little changed, and neither side could claim advantage. Like depleted boxers, the combatants retired to their respective corners, totally exhausted. Huddling in trenches and bunkers, neither side could muster enough energy to throw another punch. They were forced to await new developments to mount renewed efforts to win the war. For the Germans, a revolution in Russia would be required to free troops for attacks on the Western Front. As the Germans looked east for relief, the Allies looked west, across the Atlantic. British and French diplomats implored the United States to enter the war, and each new German atrocity on the high seas brought hope that it would be the final spur for American intervention.


The most shocking of these, of course, was the sinking of the British liner Lusitania on May 7, 1915, which according to one of President Woodrow Wilson’s biographers was “in time what Sunday, December 7, 1941, and Tuesday, September 11, 2001, would be in their times.”34 After a torpedo from German submarine U-20 sunk the ship, 1,191 of the nearly 2,000 passengers and crew lost their lives in the cold water off the southern coast of Ireland. Among the dead were 128 Americans. As the result of these and additional losses in other maritime attacks, Wilson began an agonizing process of weighing alternatives—even as he recalled the carnage he had witnessed as a young Southern boy during the Civil War. The president genuinely hated war, but he knew that events in Europe were outside his control. While Wilson’s staff hailed his efforts to keep the country out of the fight, the president admitted candidly, “Any little German lieutenant can put us into war at any time by some calculated outrage.”35


As public opinion swung wildly between anger with Germany and the basic American propensity to avoid foreign entanglements, Wilson vacillated as well, confiding to a cabinet member, “I wish with all my heart that I saw a way to carry out the double wish of our people, to maintain a firm front in respect of what we demand of Germany and yet do nothing that might by any possibility involve us in the war.”36


The president insisted on preserving the nation’s strict neutrality in hopes that the United States could serve as an impartial mediator to end the conflict—a task that proved none too easy. Through his first term, Wilson wrestled with pressures converging from every direction. Secretary of State William Jennings Bryan resigned because he feared that Wilson’s strong stance against German submarines might lead to war, while former president Theodore Roosevelt accused Wilson of cowardice for not confronting the kaiser more forcefully. Edward House, Wilson’s personal friend and US envoy to the European powers, compromised the president’s neutrality by confiding to the French that “the lower the fortunes of the Allies ebbed, the closer the United States would stand by them.”37 At home, Irish groups lobbied the White House against assisting Great Britain because of its bloody suppression of the Easter 1916 “rising” in Dublin, while German American citizens pressed the fatherland’s case for righteous war. From time to time, Wilson’s persistent neutrality won a modest victory, as when he wrung a promise from Berlin not to attack passenger liners without warning.


Following narrow reelection over Charles Evans Hughes in November 1916, Wilson readied one more attempt to mediate peace in Europe. He hoped that the twin disasters of Verdun and the Somme would persuade the warring nations that “peace without victory” was the only way out of the quagmire.38 But the costly battles had made both the Allies and Germany less reasonable and more desperate.


At a meeting in Berlin on January 9, 1917, German military authorities presented to the kaiser their case for stronger measures: because of the effective British blockade, Germany’s economy was weakening dramatically, and the war had to be won as soon as possible before the country was exhausted. The only option to break the stalemate, argued Navy chief of staff Holtzendorff, was to resume unrestricted submarine warfare to cut off Great Britain’s supplies and starve it out of the war. Acknowledging that such a move might precipitate US action, Admiral Holtzendorff eased that concern by offering a vainglorious declaration: “I will give Your Majesty my word as an officer that not one American will land on the Continent.”39 Holtzendorff’s imprudent wager against US determination was extended into a lunatic parlay by what historian John Keegan later called “a clumsy German approach to Mexico, proposing an alliance, baited with the offer to return Texas, Arizona, and New Mexico, if America went to war against Germany.”40 Contained in a telegram from German foreign secretary Arthur Zimmermann, the ploy was intercepted by the British, given to the Americans, and released on February 28. Combined with news of the German submarine offensive and the sinking of nine American ships, the Zimmermann telegram pushed American public opinion decisively toward intervention.


With reluctance and sorrow tempered by firm resolve, the president asked a joint session of Congress to declare war on April 2, 1917. Wilson felt that his request marked a personal failure, and after returning from Capitol Hill, he sat in his study and wept. The declaration, however, was acclaimed by the American public and passed by large majorities in both houses. It swept the nation into a conflict that had scourged Europe for almost three bloody years, costing more than five million lives.





CHAPTER 3



“DO YOU WISH TO TAKE PART IN THE BATTLE?”
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Cursed as “vipers of the battlefield,” German machine-gun units were expected to fight to the death. Many American troops refused to capture members of these “suicide squads,” who exhausted their ammunition, threw up their hands, and shouted “Kamerad.” Many were nonetheless immediately shot.
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We have come over here to get ourselves killed.


—General Tasker Bliss, US Army1


For months, General John J. Pershing had looked forward to August 30, 1918. That was the day the First United States Army would assume responsibility for its own sector of the Western Front. By virtue of the move, Pershing would become the first American general to command a multidivisional force in a foreign war, an army he would soon lead into battle to erase a long-standing bulge in the front near St. Mihiel, southeast of Verdun.


Walking toward his advanced headquarters in the pleasant provincial town of Ligny-en-Barrois in eastern France, Pershing had no reason to doubt that the day’s events would unfold just as he had planned. As he bounded through the door held wide by a military policeman, staff members might have been tempted to cheer. But Pershing’s stern demeanor and rigid posture eliminated any thoughts of celebrating the day’s significance. The chief’s presence insured decorum.


While reviewing the disposition of American troops who had begun replacing French poilu in frontline trenches at midnight, Pershing reflected on the whirlwind of the last year and a half. One day he had been chasing the Mexican revolutionary Pancho Villa across the Chihuahuan Desert; it seemed that the very next, he was climbing aboard an express train to Washington to help plan America’s participation in the war.


The long train ride gave Pershing time to reflect on his lengthy career and the current state of the US military. Pershing was part of a proud tradition that had fought in the Indian campaigns in the West, the Spanish-American War in Cuba and the Philippine Islands, the insurrection of the Islamic Moros in the former Spanish Pacific colony, and many smaller actions against rebels and bandits in Mexico and Central America. Throughout the course of those campaigns, the general had seen the army’s ranks wax and wane with fluctuating congressional funding, but by 1917, the army had shrunk to a new low. The US Regular Army then consisted of only 107,641 men, ranking seventeenth in the world; the Marine Corps added another 15,500 professional soldiers, while the National Guard consisted of 132,000 part-time troops.2 All told, the nation could muster only 255,141 men, barely enough for nine divisions.


At that time, Germany fielded 123 divisions on the Western Front; by the time the Yanks were ready for battle, that figure would rise to 185.3 Some experts reckoned that America would need four million soldiers to defeat Germany and the other members of the Central Powers: Austria-Hungary, the Ottoman Empire, and Bulgaria. To meet the manpower needs, President Wilson developed a new plan for national conscription that historian David Kennedy has described as “a radical departure from the traditional reliance on volunteering.”4 Conscription would set the pattern for US defense policy for the next half century, and at the time, many experts predicted that the services would encounter insurmountable problems in training unmotivated draftees. The burden would fall on a small cadre of experienced Regular Army officers who would be called on to organize and train the raw recruits. Selecting these officers emerged as the most pressing problem facing the nation as it readied for war.


Even before the public celebration of the declaration of war had ended, President Wilson and his secretary of war, Newton D. Baker, began surveying the ranks of US officers to determine who was capable of meeting the organizational, logistical, and physical demands of the conflict. Many senior generals, like Army chief of staff Hugh Scott, were aging and lacked the requisite stamina. The leading candidate, Major General Frederick Funston, died of a heart attack before he could be vetted thoroughly.5 Others were hidebound in thinking, tied to outdated tactics, or were politically unreliable—like General Leonard Wood, who had irritated Wilson with strident calls for war preparations well before the president and Congress had made the decision to intervene. Such officers would remain on the Atlantic’s western shore.


Toward the bottom of the seniority list of flag officers appeared the name of John J. Pershing, who had soldiered in Cuba, the Philippines, and Mexico. He had been promoted to major general the year before, and was a rising star. The secretary of war made inquiries and found that Pershing knew how to manage interservice rivalry, had mastered the complexities of duty abroad, could speak middling French, and, not insignificantly, was the son-in-law of US senator Francis E. Warren, whose support was critical to the war effort. Above all, Baker found that the officer had the reputation of being utterly reliable and compliant with instructions from superiors.


Shortly after Pershing got off the train in Washington’s Union Station, he was invited to meet with Baker. Pershing hoped that they would be discussing the possibility of a divisional command in France, but Baker had broader responsibilities in mind. A former mayor of Cleveland who had no previous military experience before being named head of the War Department, Baker was a good judge of character; he quickly took Pershing’s measure. He liked the general’s cut, his granite face, his military bearing—all bespoke strong character and deep reserves of personal and professional pride. Although the topic was never broached, Baker also was aware that Pershing had consciously stiffened his demeanor to mask an almost unbearable family tragedy: the death of his wife, Frances, and three young daughters in a house fire two years earlier. One son survived. After a pleasant conversation, the meeting broke up with best wishes but without mention of greater responsibility than that normally accruing to a major general.


A day or two later, however, Pershing was once again called to meet with the secretary of war, who told Pershing that President Wilson had selected the general as commander in chief.6 He would lead all US troops in Europe, a group modestly designated as the American Expeditionary Forces.


The new AEF commander quickly threw himself into work. In an amazingly short period of time, the fifty-seven-year-old Pershing recruited an experienced staff, helped plan thirty-two new training camps across the nation, and assisted in the design of a basic-training regimen. In short order, the war department rounded up transport ships to carry Americans across the U-boat-vexed Atlantic to France, where they would undergo an intensive program of combat training to put a sharper point on their bayonets. While the logistical achievements were impressive, the test of battle still lay ahead for Pershing’s inexperienced doughboys, who had been nicknamed for their khaki uniforms covered in dust kicked up by marching.


As Pershing recalled these and other developments on the pleasant August morning at his Ligny headquarters, he recognized a surprising irony: many of the most difficult challenges of the past few months had been posed not by Germans but by his allies. Repeatedly, Generals Ferdinand Foch and Sir Douglas Haig pressed Pershing to parcel out arriving American soldiers to fill battalion and regimental gaps in French and British divisions depleted by fighting. The Allied generals called the plan “amalgamation,” and argued that Yanks needed the direction of experienced combat officers to be effective. The AEF commander believed that such an approach would end in disaster rather than victory, as American troops would adopt the trench-fighting tactics of the Europeans that had led to a stalemate. He adamantly refused to feed his troops piecemeal into the war’s grinder.


Developments in Russia forced Pershing’s hand. In the first week of November 1917, Bolsheviks deposed the provisional government that had ruled since Czar Nicholas II’s abdication and began to nurture their nascent experiment in communism. Quickly, Bolshevik leader Nikolai Lenin petitioned the Central Powers for an armistice, which was granted by the gleeful Germans. The Allies had lost the service of thousands of Russian soldiers who had insured to that point that Germany would be compelled to fight a two-front war. These developments constituted a bonanza for the kaiser and his warlords, as more than a half million German troops from the Eastern Front were freed to attack French and British positions. Beginning in March 1918, the Germans used their newly amassed total of 185 divisions to mount a series of offensives designed to split the Allies and capture Paris before the bulk of the Americans arrived in Europe.7 The kaiser knew that his nation and army were approaching the limits of their endurance, and he and his generals threw everything into a gamble to win the war before the Yanks could become an effective fighting force.


Barely established on the Continent, Pershing hoped to reserve the few US divisions in France for action as a unified army, but he recognized that American delay might cause Allied defeat. The flinty general reluctantly freed his men for action. In little-known places such as Château-Thierry and Belleau Wood, the Yanks helped stanch the German flood. At the small town of Cantigny, they even retook some of the lost ground in a small but decisive attack directed by one of Pershing’s rising stars, General Robert Bullard.


By the end of August, Pershing and his men had met all the challenges of the Germans, as well as those from the Allies. The American general had reclaimed command of most of his far-flung troops and used them to invigorate the US First Army with fourteen battle-ready divisions, comprising four hundred thousand men—with artillery, tanks, and warplanes supplied by the French. In accordance with agreements reached with Foch, Pershing was poised to lead his army to erase a bulge in Allied lines at St. Mihiel, a relic of Crown Prince Wilhelm’s campaign to encircle Verdun in 1914. Aptly termed a “hernia” by the portly Foch, the German incursion was a few miles southeast of the besieged city, looming over critical supply lines to the dèpartments, or provinces, of France near the German and Swiss borders. French commanders had awarded their American comrades the honor of eliminating the threat to the symbol of French resistance. Through months of intense preparation, Pershing’s staff had developed a comprehensive plan directing the moves each American regiment would make. The effort would be mounted by the most experienced US units, full of “piss and vinegar,” thanks to their success in halting the German spring offensives.


Little wonder, then, that in the waning days of summer 1918, everything looked bright to Pershing, who anticipated a successful fall campaign that would position his growing army for complete victory over the Germans in 1919. Optimistic officers predicted that American doughboys would be marching with French and British soldiers through Berlin’s Brandenburg Gate before fall rain blew in off the Baltic Sea.


Late on the morning of August 30, however, Pershing received word that Foch was on his way to Ligny for an unscheduled visit. Appointed supreme commander of Allied troops just in time to coordinate the response to the German spring offensives, Foch was a pompous man who had dispatched countless French soldiers to death during the early days of the Great War. Trusting in the invincible élan of the French army, Foch had flung his spirited troops against German machine guns in the belief that l’offensive à outrance—aggressiveness to the extreme—could overwhelm the strongest defense.8 The outcome was predictable: French ardor offered scant protection against Krupp steel.
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